, G9	FILED SID J. WHITE
OF FLORIDA	DEC 1/2 1988
	CLERK, SUFREME COURT
CASE NO.	Deputy Clerk
CASE NO. (lst DCA)	

ROGER MARRERO, M.D.,

Petitioner,

vs.

DEPARTMENT OF PROFESSIONAL REGULATION, FLORIDA STATE BOARD OF MEDICINE,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF

IN THE SUPREME COURT

On Review from the District Court of Appeal First District, State of Florida

> MICHAEL I. SCHWARTZ 119 North Monroe Tallahassee, Fl 32301 904-681-1811 Attorney for Petitioner

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Dr. Roger Marrero applied to the Department of Professional Regulation Board of Medicine for Florida licensure but thereafter noticed said Board that he had withdrawn said application. The Board refused to acknowledge its consequent lack of jurisdiction of Dr. Marrero or his erstwhile application, and proceeded <u>as if</u> Dr. Marrero and his application were still within the Board's jurisdiction per Chapter 458, Florida Statutes.

Petitioner petitioned the Circuit Court of the Second Judicial Circuit, in and for Leon County, Florida, for a preliminary injunction enjoining the Board from preventing his application withdrawal and from taking any further action on his application since the Board no longer had jurisdiction. The preliminary injunction was followed by a permanent injunction on September 2, 1987 (Appendix 1).

The Respondent Board appealed to the First District Court of Appeal (First DCA). On September 15, 1988, the First DCA decision (Appendix 2) assumed-in-error that Dr. Marrero filed a motion for leave to withdraw his application. From this, the First DCA said Marrero was required to exhaust his administrative remedies. Additionally, the First DCA found that the Circuit Court erred in divesting the Board of primary jurisdiction.

On November 18, 1988, the DCA denied the motion for rehearing (Appendix 3) and issued its modified decision (Appendix 4). The District Court adopted Marrero's premise

that he noticed withdrawal of his application; but it found that the Board's exercise of continuing jurisdiction of Dr. Marrero and his [already withdrawn] application could not be said to be beyond colorable authority, and it reversed the Circuit Court's order, and remanded the cause to the Board for Marrero to exhaust administrative remedies.

Petitioner's notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court was timely filed.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In this case the First DCA held that a person who applied for a medical license did not have the right to take a voluntary withdrawal of that application prior to the Board taking final action on the application. This case cannot be reconciled with the decision of the Fifth DCA in <u>Middlebrooks</u> <u>v. St. Johns River Water Management District</u>, 13 FLW 1608 (5th DCA, July 15, 1988), wherein the court held that the applicant could take a voluntary withdrawal of his application for a consumptive use permit up to the time the application went to the finder of fact. Thus, the decision of the First DCA directly conflicts with a decision of the Fifth DCA.

In the instant case, the Board was divested of jurisdiction after Petitioner withdrew his application yet they continued to act upon the application. Therefore, the decision in this case expressly affects a class of state officers by vesting in the gubornatorially-appointed members of each DPR multi-member Board, the power and authority to act

quasi-judicially on matters not before said boards. All state officers with this quasi-judicial power are affected.

This decision also expressly affects a class of constitutional officers by barring and precluding the circuit court judges of this state from exercising declaratory or injunctive jurisdiction granted them under the Constitution over the aforesaid state officers when-where-or-as said state boards act quasi-judicially on matters not before them.

Additionally, the Court said that it would be appropriate for the Petitioner to seek a declaratory statement from DPR pursuant to Chapter 120.565, F.S. This case cannot be reconciled with <u>Eastern Air Lines</u>, Inc. v. Hillsborough County <u>Aviation Authority</u>, 454 So.2d 1076 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984), where the Court held that it was inappropriate to give a declaratory statement where the proceedings are already pending in another tribunal. Thus, this decision directly conflicts with the decision of the Second DCA.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Florida Supreme Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review a decision of a district court of appeal that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court or another district court of appeal on the same point of law. Art. V, s. 3(b)(3), Fla. Const. (1980); Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv).

The Florida Supreme Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review a decision which expressly affects a class of

constitutional or state officers. Art. V, s. (3)(b)(3), Fla. Const. (1980); Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iii).

ARGUMENT

I. THIS DECISION EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH THE DECISION OF THE FIFTH DCA IN MIDDLEBROOKS v. ST. JOHNS RIVER WATER MANAGEMENT DISTRICT, 13 FLW 1608 (5th DCA July 15, 1988), AS WELL AS WITH AT LEAST TWO OF ITS OWN DECISIONS (RULE 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv), FLA.R.APP.P.)

The decision in the case at bar says that the administrative agency continues to be vested with jurisdiction after Petitioner Marrero withdrew his application for a medical license. The First DCA says, therefore, that the appropriate administrative remedies must therefore be exhausted before Petitioner will be allowed to come into the circuit or district courts for relief.

This decision conflicts with the Fifth DCA's opinion in Middlebrooks v. St. Johns River Water Management District, 13 FLW 1608 (5th DCA July 15, 1988). In Middlebrooks, the appellant Middlebrooks withdrew his application for а consumptive use permit. The St. Johns River Water Management District, ignored his withdrawal and rendered a final order. The court likened the situation to that in a civil proceeding where the plaintiff could dismiss an action up to the time the case went to the trier of fact, pursuant to Fla.R. Civ.P. 1.420(a)(1). The court said that in Middlebrooks, the hearing officer was the trier of fact and until he had concluded his fact-finding process, the appellant should be allowed to

withdraw.

In reaching the decision in <u>Middlebrooks</u>, the Fifth DCA relied heavily on the First DCA decision in <u>Humana of Fla.,</u> <u>Inc. v. Dept. of Health and Rehabilitative Services</u>, 500 So.2d 186 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986), <u>reh.denied</u>, 506 So.2d 1041 (Fla. 1987). The Fifth DCA said,

In <u>Humana</u>. . . the petitioner for a certificate of need withdrew its petition <u>prior</u> to the hearing. The hearing officer cancelled the hearing and closed the file. The court held that Humana's withdrawal divested the agency of jurisdiction to proceed. Humana's withdrawal came before the fact issues were presented to the fact finder, analogous to filing a voluntary dismissal before the retirement of the jury."

<u>Middlebrooks</u>, 13 FLW at 1609 (emphasis in original)(citation omitted). <u>See also, RHPC, Inc. v. Department of HRS</u>, 509 So.2d 1267 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987) (petitioner withdrew his application for a certificate of need. Agency was divested on all further jurisdiction over the matter).

> II. THIS DECISION EXPRESSLY AFFECTS A CLASS OF STATE OFFICERS BY VESTING IN THE GUBORNATORIALLY-APPOINTED MEMBERS OF EACH DPR MULTI-MEMBER BOARD THE POWER AND AUTHORITY TO ACT QUASI-JUDICIALLY ON MATTERS NOT BEFORE SAID BOARD. (RULE 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iii), FLA.R.APP.P.)

The First DCA's decision affects a class of state officers. An officer is distinguished from a mere employee in that he is delegated a portion of the sovereign power and is authorized to exercise in his own right any sovereign power or prescribed independent authority of a governmental nature. <u>See</u>, <u>State ex rel. Dresskell v. City of Miami</u>, 13 So.2d 707 (Fla. 1943); <u>State ex rel. Arthur Kudner, Inc. v. Lee</u>, 7 So.2d

110 (Fla. 1942). Chapter 20.30, Florida Statutes, creates the Department of Professional Regulation Boards, members of which are appointed by the governor. In turn, each Board is granted sovereign authority under a specific chapter of the Florida Statutes. Additionally, the Supreme Court, in <u>Fla. Dry</u> <u>Cleaning & Laundry Board v. Economy Cash & Carry Cleaners</u>, 197 So. 550 (Fla. 1940) said the members of these boards were "officers." Id. at 557. See also, Lee, 7 So.2d at 114.

The decision affects a "class" when it "affects one state officer and in so doing similarly affects every other state officer in the same category . . . even though only one of such officers might be involved in the particular litigation." <u>Fla. State Board of Health v. Lewis</u>, 149 So.2d 41, 42-43 (Fla. 1963). Here, all of the members of the Board are equally affected. They are given jurisdiction over a matter where it no longer exists. The Boards, entities in themselves, may also be considered a class, since all of the Boards will be equally affected by this grant of jurisdiction beyond the scope of statutory authority. <u>See</u>, <u>Lewis</u>, 149 So.2d at 43.

Thus, the class of state officers affected includes the Boards, individually, and their individual members of the Department of Professional Regulation, including: Boards of Accountancy, Acupuncture, Architecture, Auctioneers, Barbers, Chiropractic, Construction, Cosmetology, Dentistry, Electrical Contractors, Professional Engineers, Funeral Directors and Embalmers, Professional Land Surveyors, Landscape Architecture, Massage, Medicine, Naturopathic Examiners,

Nursing, Nursing Home Administrators, Opticianry, Optometry, Osteopathic Medicine, Pharmacy, Pilot Commissioners, Podiatric Medicine, and Veterinary Medicine. The class also includes the boards of all other state agencies.

The Board members are granted the authority to act quasi-judicially by issuing and disciplining licenses of various professionals. The case at bar allows the Boards to exercise jurisdiction over a subject matter no longer before them. A board's jurisdiction ends when the petitioner takes a voluntary dismissal or withdrawal. <u>Humana</u>, 500 So.2d at 187; RHPC, 509 So.2d at 1267. This decision is to the contrary.

> III. THIS DECISION AFFECTS CLASS Α OF CONSTITUTIONAL OFFICERS BY BARRING AND PRECLUDING THE CIRCUIT COURT JUDGES OF THIS STATE FROM EXERCISING DECLARATORY OR INJUNCTIVE JURISDICTION OVER THE AFORESAID STATE OFFICERS WHEN-WHERE-OR-AS SAID STATE BOARDS ACT QUASI-JUDICIALLY ON MATTERS NOT BEFORE THEM. (RULE 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iii), FLA.R.APP.P.)

This decision affects the class of judges of the Circuit Courts, constitutionally created officers, by prohibiting them from providing declaratory or injunctive relief in administrative actions, a power granted them under Art. V, s. While the doctrine of exhaustion of 5(b), Fla. Const. administrative remedies is generally applicable, the courts have said that they will intervene prior to the exhaustion of administrative remedies, if the remedy is too little or too late. Dept. of General Services v. Willis, 344 So.2d 580 (1st DCA 1977). Circuit courts should not be deprived of their right to enjoin administrative actions where the Board acted

without jurisdiction over the matter.

These judges constitute the class of constitutional officers which the Florida Constitution and Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure contemplate, as all such officers are equally affected by this denial to use the sovereign power granted them under the Constitution.

> IV. THIS DECISION EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH THE SECOND DCA OPINION IN EASTERN AIR LINES, INC. v. HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY AVIATION AUTHORITY, 454 So.2d 1076 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984), AS WELL AS WITH MANY OF ITS OWN DECISIONS. (RULE 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv), FLA.R.APP.P.)

The First District Court of Appeal in its November 18, 1988 opinion, said that the Petitioner "could petition the agency for a declaratory statement pursuant to Section 120.565, Florida Statutes." Chapter 28-4.005, Florida Administrative Code, states:

> A declaratory statement is a means for resolving a controversy or answering questions or doubts concerning the applicability of any statutory provision, rule or order as it does, or may, apply to petitioner in his particular circumstances only. The <u>potential</u> impact upon petitioner's interests must be alleged in order for petitioner to show the existence of a controversy, question or doubt. (Emphasis added)

The Court in <u>Eastern</u> said that a declaratory statement would be an "inefficient and awkward proposition" where there was an ongoing proceeding in the circuit court. <u>Eastern</u>, 454 So.2d at 1079. <u>Eastern</u> is consistent with several other decisions in the First DCA which held that a declaratory statement is not a proper remedy where the same issues are

already pending in a judicial or administrative proceeding. <u>Suntide Condo. v. Div. of Fla. Land Sales, Condos., and Mobile</u> <u>Homes</u>, 504 So.2d 1343 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987); <u>Fox v. St. Bd. of</u> <u>Osteopathic Medical Examiners</u>, 395 So.2d 192 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981); <u>Lawyers Prof. Liability v. Shand, Morahan & Co.</u>, 394 So.2d 238 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981); <u>Couch v. State</u>, 377 So.2d 32 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979). <u>See also</u>, <u>Taylor v. Cooper</u>, 60 So.2d 534 (Fla. 1952) (proceeding for declaratory decree improper where issues already pending in another forum).

Therefore, the decision in <u>Eastern</u> conflicts with the decision at bar.

For the Petitioner to get a declaratory statement now would violate the Florida Administrative Code itself, as the Code contemplates only "potential" litigation. This action has gone beyond "potential." The issue has already been brought to the circuit court. The Petitioner already withdrew his application and the Board, acting without jurisdiction, denied the application. There is no "potential" impact remaining. The Petitioner does not want to know what happens if he withdraws his application, because he has already withdrawn it. Thus, a declaratory statement would not even meet its purpose.

CONCLUSION

This Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review the decision below, and the Court should exercise that jurisdiction to consider the merits of Petitioner's argument.

MICHAEL I. SCHWARTZ

119 North Monroe Tallahassee, Florida 32301 904-681-1811

Ι HEREBY CERTIFY that a true copy of the foregoing Appendix Petitioner's Jurisdictional Brief, and to Petitioner's hereto, Jurisdictional Brief attached was furnished by U.S. Mail this 12 day of Decomber, 1988, to M. Catherine Lannon, Esquire, Department of Legal Affairs, The Capitol, Tallahassee, Florida 32301.