IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROGER MARRERO, M.D.,

Petitioner,

-vs-

Case Number: 73,392 1st DCA No. 87-1285

SID

BY-

23

Deputy

SUPPLINE COURT

Jerk

DEPARTMENT OF PROFESSIONAL REGULATION, FLORIDA STATE BOARD OF MEDICINE,

Respondent.

On Review of a Petition To Invoke the Discretionary Jurisdiction of the Florida Supreme Court To Review a Decision of the First District Court of Appeal

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

M. Catherine Lannon Assistant Attorney General Department of Legal Affairs Suite 1602, The Capitol Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1050 (904) 488-1891

Attorney for Respondent

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The petitioner, Roger Marrero, M.D., was the plaintiff in the trial court and the appellee before the First District Court of Appeal. The respondent, Department of Professional Regulation, Florida State Board of Medicine, was the defendant in the trial court and the appellant before the First District Court of Appeal. For purposes of clarity, the parties will be referred to as "Dr. Marrero" and "the Board." All emphasis is added unless otherwise stated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Jurisdiction of the Court must be determined from the facts contained within the four corners of the District Court's opinion. <u>Reaves v. State</u>, 485 So.2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986); <u>see</u> <u>also Hardee v. State</u>, 13 FLW 706 (Fla. Dec. 8, 1988). The Board therefore rejects Dr. Marrero's statement of facts which include matters outside the opinion for which review is sought.¹ The only facts relevant to this Court's determination of jurisdiction are that Dr. Marrero applied for a Florida medical license; he appeared before the Board of Medicine in August of 1986 in support of his application, at which time questions arose about unfavorable evaluations and possible personality problems; and he was asked to secure a psychiatric evaluation and reappear before

- 1 -

¹ The Board urges this Court to strike appendices 1,2, and 3 submitted by Dr. Marrero since they are extraneous to the issue of jurisdiction. However, should this Court decline to strike appendix 3, the Board notes that Dr. Marrero's Motion for Rehearing did not give the District Court the benefit of the issues, the arguments or the cases now urged before this Court.

the Board. After he failed to attend the October or December meeting and requested that the matter be continued until the February 1987 meeting, the Board informed Dr. Marrero that if he failed to attend the February meeting, his application would be denied. Before that meeting Dr. Marrero informed the Board that he was withdrawing his application, but he intended to reapply in the future.

The Board declined to remove consideration of his application from the February agenda and, as promised, voted to deny his application. Before a written order was rendered, Dr. Marrero obtained an injunction from the circuit court forbidding the Board to take any further action on his application. The Board's motion to dismiss for failure to exhaust administrative remedies was denied.

The First District Court of Appeal reversed the Circuit Court. Its opinion held that Dr. Marrero was required to resort to available and adequate administrative remedies, because it could not be said the Board acted without colorable statutory authority or that Dr. Marrero had shown irreparable harm.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The First District Court of Appeal held that the Circuit Court erred in denying the Board's motion to dismiss the complaint for injunction relief because Dr. Marrero should have been required to exhaust administrative remedies. Because the issue of law ruled upon sub judice differed from that ruled upon

- 2 -

in <u>Middlebrooks v. St. Johns River Water Management District</u>, 529 So.2d 1167 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988) and because there are material factual distinctions between the cases, there is no <u>express</u> and <u>direct</u> conflict. Similarly Petitioner's attempt to find conflict with mere <u>dicta</u> defeats the express and direct requirements warranting this Court's exercise of discretion to settle an important point of law.

Since the Board of Medicine is not a class of officers, but a single entity, the decision did not affect a class of state officers. Nor did the decision affect a class of constitutional officers.

The decision merely added to the case law on exhaustion of administrative remedies. It did not <u>directly</u> and <u>exclusively</u> affect the Board's or the judiciary's powers, but held that the existence or lack of authority over Dr. Marrero's application had to be litigated, if at all, in an administrative forum.

- 3 -

ARGUMENT I [RESTATED]

THE DECISION BELOW DOES NOT EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICT WITH A DECISION OF ANOTHER DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL.

Article V, Section 3(b)(3), of the Florida Constitution, provides for discretionary jurisdiction in this Court when a <u>decision</u> of a district court <u>expressly</u> and <u>directly</u> conflicts with a decision of another district court or of the Florida Supreme Court. With specifically delineated exceptions, the decisions of the district courts are to be considered final. Jenkins v. State, 385 So.2d 1356 (Fla. 1980).

Dr. Marrero contends that the decision of the First District Court of Appeal conflicts with Middlebrooks v. St. Johns River Water Management District, 529 So.2d 1167 (5th DCA 1988). It does not. The First District held that Dr. Marrero failed to exhaust available and adequate administrative remedies. The Court did not rule on the issue of whether the Board had authority to continue to act on Dr. Marrero's application after he stated he was withdrawing it; the court, in fact, expressly refused to do so (Appendix 4, p.11). The Middlebrooks case did not rule on exhaustion of administrative remedies but rather arose as a review of administrative action. The District Court sub judice reviewed judicial intervention calculated to deprive the agency of the ability to make an initial determination on an issue of law.

Another important distinction, one pointed out by the First District Court of Appeal in its analysis of the Middlebrooks

- 4 -

case, is that in <u>Middlebrooks</u> the administrative agency involved had, by rule, explicitly bound itself to follow the Rules of Civil Procedure to the extent they were not inconsistent with Chapter 120, Florida Statutes. Thus, Rule 1.420, Fla.R.Civ.P., which relates to voluntary dismissals, is clearly applicable to the St. Johns River Water District's proceedings. In contrast, neither the rules of the Board of Medicine, nor the Model Rules of Procedure, Rule Chapter 28, Florida Administrative Code, incorporate the Rules of Civil Procedure except in discovery matters. See, Rule 28-5.208, Florida Administrative Code.

Petitioner seeks conflict jurisdiction with Eastern Airlines, Inc. v. Hillsborough County Aviation Authority, 454 So.2d 1076 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984). The statement by the First District Court of Appeal that petitioner could petition for a declaratory statement was dicta not the decision. The Court simply stated examples of the types of administrative remedies which might be available to Dr. Marrero after the Board entered its order. Even if the court were in error about the availability of that particular remedy, Dr. Marrero has not disputed the availability of a hearing on a matter affecting his substantial interests under section 120.57, Florida Statutes. The accuracy of the reference to the availability of the declaratory statment is not material to the decision of the appellate court. Therefore there is no express and direct conflict with Eastern Airlines, Inc. v. Hillsborough County Aviation Authority, supra.

- 5 -

Conflict jurisdiction does not exist if the points of law settled in the two cases allegedly in conflict are not the same or if the controlling factual elements are distinguishable. Department of Revenue v. Johnston, 442 So.2d 950 (Fla. 1983); Kyle v. Kyle, 139 So.2d 885 (Fla. 1962); Ansin v. Thurston, 101 So.2d 808 (Fla. 1958). Therefore, Dr. Marrero's reliances upon Middlebrooks and Eastern Airlines for express and direct conflict are misplaced.

Dr. Marrero cites to cases of the First District Court which he believes to be contrary to the holding <u>sub</u> <u>judice</u>. Assuming <u>arguendo</u> there is conflict, that intradistrict conflict is to be resolved by hearings en banc. Fla.R.App.P. 9.331.

As stated in <u>Kincaid v. World Insurance Company</u>, 157 So.2d 517, 518 (Fla. 1963), the measure of this Supreme Court's conflict jurisdiction is not whether the Supreme Court agrees with the District Court ruling, but on

> whether the decision of the District Court on its face collides with a prior decision of this Court or another District Court on the same point of law so as to create an inconsistency or conflict among the precedents.

In summary, the Board contends that there is no express and direct conflict between Marrero and any other cases cited, and that there is no basis for the exercise of discretionary jurisdiction by the Florida Supreme Court. Even if there were conflict, however, the Board would urge this court to use its discretion to decline review. Dr. Marrero actually focuses on

- 6 -

the issue of the agency's jurisdiction over an applicant who wishes to withdraw, that is, the correctness of the <u>Board's</u> action, not on the correctness of the Court's decision that the circuit court erred in refusing to dismiss the complaint. As noted by the District Court, the merits of the withdrawal attempts can be litigated another day, but in the proper forum.

ARGUMENT II [RESTATED]

THE DECISION BELOW DOES NOT AFFECT A CLASS OF STATE OR COONSTITUTIONAL OFFICERS.

The Board of Medicine is not a class of state officers. In <u>Florida State Board of Health v. Lewis</u>, 149 So.2d 41 (Fla. 1963), this Court held that a Board of Health, acting collectively, was a single entity, not a class of entities.

> The 'class', as the word is employed in Section 4, Article V, supra, means two or more constitutional or state officers who separately and independently exercise identical powers of government. In this sense a group of officers composing a single governmental entity such as a board or commission would not, <u>as such board or commission</u>, constitute class. It is the existence of two or more members of a given class of separate official entities that supplies the jurisdictional foundation for this Court to proceed. [Emphasis in original.]

Id. at 43.

With regard to Dr. Marrero's argument that the District Court's decision vested in the Board "the power and authority to act quasi-judicially on matters not before said Board," the Board believes that in this argument, as in the first one, Dr. Marrero is so impassioned about the merits of the issue he wishes to litigate that he is unable to recognize what issue the District Court decided. In order make his argument, Dr. Marrero must insist that this Court accept his contention that the Board had no authority to act on his application. The District Court <u>did not</u> accept Dr. Marrero's insistence that the Board immediately lost jurisdiction when Dr. Marrero decided to control the timing of when an application from him could be acted upon by the Board. All the District Court decided was that the matter should be litigated, if at all, in the administrative forum, not the circuit court.

Dr. Marrero's contention that the Supreme Court has discretionary jurisdiction on the basis that the District Court decision affects a class of state officers every time the District Court makes a ruling which affects the jurisdiction or authority of the Board could lead to only one result: all cases involving the Board's actions would be reviewable. Every time the court upholds the Board, the Board's authority is bolstered; every time the court reverses the Board, its authority is diminished.

Similarly Dr. Marrero argues that a class of constitutional officers was directly affected, specifically circuit judges. To follow Dr. Marrero's analysis of the issue, jurisdiction is vested every time the District Court disagrees with a Circuit Court's use of its power to grant declaratory or injuctive relief. In essence, he says when the District Court disagrees on the use of such powers, the Supreme Court can exercise its discretion on the

- 8 -

basis of the deprivation of circuit judges' powers and referee the disagreement. This is not the role of the Florida Supreme Court.

The difficulty with such broad readings of this jurisdictional basis was recognized in <u>Spradley v. State</u>, 293 So.2d 697 (Fla. 1974) when this Court ruled:

> A decision which "affects a class of constitutional or state officers" must be one which does more than simply modify or construe or add to the case law which comprises much of the substantive and procedural law of this state. Such cases naturally affect all classes of constitutional or state officers, in that the members of these classes are bound by the law the same as any other citizen. To vest this Court with certiorari jurisdiction, a decision must *directly* and, in some way, exclusively affect the duties, powers, validity, formation, termination or regulation of a particular class of constitutional or state officer. [Emphasis original.]

Id. at 701. This the Marrero decision did not do.

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, the Board respectfully requests this Court to enter an order denying jurisdiction.